

APPR Roadmap for Pretrial Advancement

Revised October 2022



About APPR

Advancing Pretrial Policy and Research (APPR) launched as an initiative in 2019 with support from Arnold Ventures. APPR seeks to achieve fair, just, effective pretrial practices, every day, nationwide. APPR's mission is to demonstrate equitable improvements in pretrial outcomes through highfidelity implementation and comprehensive research on pretrial policies and practices. All APPR implementation and technical assistance activities are led by the Center for Effective Public Policy.

Acknowledgments

This resource has been years in the making. Since APPR launched in 2019, we have worked to develop a model of what a comprehensive, legal, evidencebased, and community-centric pretrial system would look like. It was not an easy task, but we are pleased to release the APPR Roadmap for Pretrial Advancement. The primary authors of this work are Matthew Alsdorf and Alison Shames, co-project directors of APPR, and associate director and director, respectively, at the Center for Effective Public Policy. Special thanks to Peggy McGarry, Michael Jones, and Madeline ("Mimi") Carter, whose work drafting and/or editing earlier versions have truly elevated this work. Thank you to the members of APPR's Pretrial Practitioners Network, who reviewed this work and provided invaluable feedback that reflect their vast experience and expertise as on-the-ground practitioners and leaders in the pretrial field: Jeffrey Altenburg, Keith Belzer, De'Anna La Vigne Lawson, and Judge Mark Spitzer. And, of course, many thanks to the entire APPR team: a consortium of organizations and individuals dedicated to improving pretrial systems nationwide and making them fairer and more equitable. We are grateful for the collaborative partnership. We hope this Roadmap helps people see that change is possible and within reach—and provides actionable guidance about how to get there.

The **Center for Effective Public Policy** (cepp.com) leads all implementation and technical assistance activities for APPR.



Center for Effective Public Policy

© 2022 Center for Effective Public Policy



Contents

Introduction	1
Using this Roadmap Policy Roadmap Implementation Roadmap	3 3 4
Highlighted Topics	4
Policy Roadmap	5
1. Adopt policies to use citations/summonses instead of custodial arrests in	•
appropriate circumstances.	5
Create diversion options to be used by law enforcement, the prosecution, and the judiciary.	7
3. Authorize releases before first appearance hearings ("delegated release	
authority").	8
4. Conduct meaningful first appearance hearings, where the person charged is	
represented by counsel and has the opportunity to be released.	9
5. Detain a person pretrial only when state law allows and no conditions	
reasonably assure pretrial success, and ensure due process protections.	10
6. Use a locally validated, actuarial pretrial assessment to inform decisions about	40
pretrial release conditions.	12
7. When setting release conditions, make individualized determinations and use	
the least restrictive conditions—if any are deemed necessary—that reasonably assure court appearance and community safety.	14
8. Offer supportive pretrial services to the people most likely to benefit from them.	14
9. Implement clear, consistent, and equitable policies for responding to a person's	10
behavior on pretrial release.	15
10. Process cases swiftly and effectively.	16
11. Institute a practice of regularly reviewing people who are in jail pretrial to	
determine why they are detained and whether they should be released.	17
Implementation Roadmap	18
1. Convene an inclusive policy team composed of both community and system	10
stakeholders, and start by defining the vision, goals, and purposes of the	
pretrial system.	18
 Continuously educate system and community stakeholders about pretrial justice. 	19
3. Increase public understanding about pretrial justice.	20
4. Evaluate pretrial performance measures regularly, and continually improve	
policies and practices.	20
Conclusion	22
Notes	23

Introduction

The pretrial system has, in recent years, become a focus of attention for governments, civil rights advocates, the media, and nonprofit organizations. Understandably so: it is the front door of the criminal legal system, and decisions made in the early stages of a criminal case have major impacts on everything that follows. As Berkeley law professor Caleb Foote wrote in 1956, "Pretrial decisions determine mostly everything."

This adage is true for individual cases: whether or not someone is detained while awaiting trial has major impacts on whether they are found guilty,² whether they are sentenced to incarceration,³ and how long those sentences are.⁴ Unnecessary detention can also disrupt lives, leading to lost jobs and housing, family instability, and even increased likelihood of rearrest.⁵

It is also true for the system as a whole: virtually all of the growth in the U.S. jail population in the 21st century is attributable to pretrial incarceration.⁶ Housing people before trial costs county and state governments at least \$14 billion annually.⁷

So, it is critical that we get pretrial decisions right. But in most of the country, the pretrial system is deeply flawed. There is an overreliance on custodial arrest instead of citations or summonses; release and detention are determined more by money than by judicial officers making intentional decisions about public safety or flight; defense counsel is not present, despite someone's liberty being at stake; and pretrial services focus on monitoring rather than supporting people in the community. In addition, like the rest of the criminal legal system, the pretrial system suffers from systemic racism, with Black, Indigenous, and People of Color (BIPOC) disproportionately arrested and booked, subjected to higher financial conditions of release, and more frequently detained. These practices result in many people who could safely be released remaining in jail, often for long periods. And they do not enhance—and frequently undermine—community safety and well-being.

Improving the pretrial system requires a comprehensive approach; we cannot focus on a single decision point or a single agency. And the problems will not be fixed with a single solution such as an actuarial assessment tool or even the abolishment of financial conditions. Rather, we need to look at the system as a whole, involve policymakers from all agencies, and engage the community meaningfully in the improvement process.

The APPR Roadmap for Pretrial Advancement (Roadmap) stands on the shoulders of giants. It builds on a foundation that was set by Lori Eville and the National Institute of Correction's (NIC's) A Framework for Pretrial Justice: Essential Elements of an Effective Pretrial System and Agency.⁸ It is elevated by a second NIC publication, Fundamentals of Bail: A Resource Guide for Pretrial Practitioners and a Framework for American Pretrial Reform, by Timothy Schnacke.⁹ In addition, it is part of a long line of work from organizations like the National Association of Pretrial Services Agencies (NAPSA) and the American Bar Association (ABA), which have, for years, set standards for the field that demonstrate how to put fundamental legal principles into practice. This Roadmap does not replace



these foundational resources. Rather, it complements them and extends the menu of improvements that a jurisdiction can take to achieve pretrial justice.

We don't expect any jurisdiction to use this Roadmap as a literal checklist. Implementing everything recommended here would be a very heavy lift—and something very few jurisdictions are in a position to do. Instead, we hope that readers study this Roadmap, decide what is possible, and try to achieve it. Maybe a jurisdiction starts by convening a collaborative team from across the system and community. Maybe it begins by examining the first appearance hearing. Or maybe it reviews the role of law enforcement and its use of citations or diversion options. Doing *something* is always better than standing still.

We consider this a living, evolving document. The field advances. Research improves. The culture shifts. Laws may change. As transformations take place, we hope to continue to update and improve this Roadmap. We would love to hear what you think. Stay in touch with us—directly or through the APPR Community. Tell us what resonates, describe how you implemented one or more of the policies, and share your successes and challenges.

Thank you for your commitment to pretrial justice and working toward a more fair, equitable system for all.

APPR

APPR is building a national network of criminal legal system and community stakeholders who foster support for pretrial justice. Its work is focused on increasing the capacity to implement fair, effective, and equitable pretrial justice, and to increase the number of state and local jurisdictions engaged in data-driven and research-informed pretrial practices. APPR does this through technical assistance that is grounded in collaboration, the law, and a commitment to increasing equity; trainings offered at no cost that cover a broad range of pretrial topics; resources and networking opportunities for people working to improve their pretrial systems; and research on the impact of pretrial improvements in select jurisdictions.

Using this Roadmap

The Roadmap has two parts: a Policy Roadmap and an Implementation Roadmap. The **Policy Roadmap** contains 11 policies and practices that apply to different parts of the pretrial system. They describe "what" your system should be doing if striving toward true pretrial justice, for instance, using citations in appropriate circumstances; diverting people pre- and post- charge; holding meaningful first appearances; and providing supportive pretrial services. The **Implementation Roadmap** includes four strategies that are key to successfully implementing these policies and practices. This includes working with a collaborative team of system and community stakeholders, including people directly impacted by the pretrial system; communicating with the public; and measuring performance.

Topics of particular importance that impact the whole system and apply to the entire Roadmap are highlighted as standalone text and appear throughout this document. These include racial equity, the use of financial conditions of release, and the value of defense counsel.

For ease of reference, the policies, practices, and highlighted topics are listed below.

Policy Roadmap

- 1. Adopt policies to use **citations/summonses** instead of custodial arrests in appropriate circumstances.
- 2. Create diversion options to be used by law enforcement, the prosecution, and the judiciary.
- 3. Authorize releases before first appearance hearings ("delegated release authority").
- 4. Conduct **meaningful first appearance hearings**, where the person charged is represented by counsel and has the opportunity to be released.
- 5. Detain a person pretrial **only when state law allows** and no conditions reasonably assure pretrial success, and ensure due process protections.
- 6. Use a locally validated, **actuarial pretrial assessment** to inform decisions about pretrial release conditions.
- When setting release conditions, make individualized determinations and use the least restrictive conditions—if any are deemed necessary—that reasonably assure court appearance and community safety.
- 8. Offer supportive pretrial services to the people most likely to benefit from them.
- 9. Implement clear, consistent, and equitable policies for **responding to a person's behavior** on pretrial release.
- 10. Process cases swiftly and effectively.
- 11. Institute a practice of **regularly reviewing people who are in jail** pretrial to determine why they are detained and whether they should be released.

Implementation Roadmap

- 1. Convene an **inclusive policy team** composed of both community and system stakeholders, and start by defining the vision, goals, and purposes of the pretrial system.
- 2. Continuously educate system and community stakeholders about pretrial justice.
- 3. Increase public understanding about pretrial justice.
- 4. **Evaluate pretrial performance measures** regularly, and continually improve policies and practices.

Highlighted Topics

- Elevating racial justice
- Counsel at first appearance
- Financial conditions of release
- Support for pretrial assessments
- Building a data infrastructure

Policy Roadmap



1. Adopt policies to use citations/summonses instead of custodial arrests in appropriate circumstances.

Spending *any* time in jail—even just a few hours or days—can have lasting impacts on someone's life. It can result in the loss of a job, housing, or even custody of one's children.¹⁰ People who are detained in jail are more likely to be convicted and sentenced to incarceration, and are more likely to be arrested in the future, than similar people who are released quickly.¹¹ Custodial arrest, therefore, should be used selectively and only when it is statutorily required or necessary to protect the community or an individual victim's well-being and safety. An alternative is to use citations or summonses, which are "orders to appear" in court on a particular day and time.¹² They can be issued in the field *without taking someone to jail* when a person is suspected of a crime.

Many jurisdictions have found that citations and summonses are safe and efficient ways to handle lower-level violations of the law.¹³ Noncustodial options can help a person keep their job and housing, maintain their family ties, and be a contributing member of the community. And, given that most calls to the police are for minor offenses and neighborhood nuisance issues, the use of citations and summonses can improve the effectiveness of law enforcement by keeping officers in the community as opposed to spending time transporting people to jail.

Custodial arrest should not be the default arrest option. Citations and summonses are safe and efficient ways to handle lower-level violations of the law.

To encourage the use of citations or summonses, and to promote their consistent and equitable deployment, law enforcement agencies should adopt policies and operational guidance specifying the situations and people for whom these options are—and are *not*—appropriate. Also, they should ensure that law enforcement leadership, from the chief or sheriff to the unit supervisor, expresses their clear support for citations, summonses, and any other noncustodial options in appropriate circumstances. Finally, for citations and summonses to be effective tools, it is important that they provide clear instructions about when and where to appear in court.¹⁴

Elevating Racial Justice

Institutional racism permeates our society, including our criminal legal system. In the United States, BIPOC and people experiencing poverty are jailed at much higher rates than others. These disparities devastate the lives of the people impacted and undermine the integrity of our criminal legal system. They impede our efforts to truly deliver justice. Eliminating our current system's disparities requires a comprehensive approach to pretrial improvement that includes several essential components.

- A recognition of systemic racism. Systemic racism is difficult to isolate in one particular
 institution because it involves the reinforcing effects of multiple institutions and cultural
 norms—past and present—continually reproducing old and producing new forms of racism.
 The documented cumulative impact of systemic racism is that more people of color have been
 disproportionately caught in the net of the criminal legal system. System stakeholders should
 partner with communities to work toward the elimination of disparities in their pretrial systems.
- An understanding of implicit bias. Implicit bias refers to unconscious attitudes and stereotypes toward people and social groups that affect our understanding, actions, and decisions. Jurisdictions should address implicit bias through deliberate awareness-building strategies and by holding systems accountable for the impact, whether intended or not, that bias has caused.
- A close examination of data. Objective data shines a light on whether and how people of varying races, ethnicities, genders, and economic positions are treated, and helps uncover policies and practices that contribute to disparities. Sharing this data with all stakeholders contributes to transparency, and it can inform needs around transforming policies and practices. Jurisdictions should identify and collect local data, and evaluate whether pretrial justice goals and values are met fairly and equally across all people.
- Meaningful community engagement. Eliminating disparities and achieving racial equity is dependent on a genuine and meaningful relationship between system stakeholders and those impacted by structural racism (including poverty, inequity, and disproportionate rates of incarceration). Engaging community members brings a critical expertise and perspective to the policymaking table around the urgency of the dialogue and the strategies that will successfully achieve fairness and effectiveness. System and community stakeholders must work together to identify ways to make needed changes to the criminal legal system, to keep people out of the system whenever possible, and to otherwise eliminate disparities within the system.
- Broad stakeholder collaboration. For pretrial justice goals to be achieved, law enforcement, prosecution, defense, courts, and others who impact or are impacted by the system must work together effectively. Local collaboratives should be broadly composed and include the voices of the people most affected by the system: people charged with a crime, victims, families, and community organizations.

APPR Advancing Pretrial Policy & Research



2. Create diversion options to be used by law enforcement, the prosecution, and the judiciary.

Diversion options can function as criminal legal system off-ramps for people who may be engaging in behavior that is harmful to themselves or others but for whom the full weight of the system is not necessary and does not serve the best interests of the community. Diversion offers the promise of avoiding the collateral consequences of traditional case processing and preserving system resources while still holding people accountable for their behavior, expanding the role of victims in the process, and linking people to services or programs that can help them modify life circumstances—such as unemployment, homelessness, or addiction—that may have contributed to the behavior that resulted in their involvement in the criminal legal system.¹⁵ As such, diversion can, in many circumstances, also contribute to a reduction in future criminal behavior.

Importantly, though, diversion should not be used in situations where charges would otherwise be dropped. If prosecution would not be pursued—for instance, if the prosecutor does not believe they can prove charges beyond a reasonable doubt—then diversion programs should not be used; instead, the person should simply be released.

Diversion options can function as criminal legal system off-ramps for people who may be engaging in behavior that is harmful to themselves or others but for whom the full weight of the system is not necessary and does not serve the best interests of the community.

Diversion options that follow a nontraditional case processing path include pre-arrest diversion, pre-charge diversion, and post-charge/pre-conviction diversion.¹⁶

- **Pre-arrest diversion:** In cases where probable cause to arrest exists, law enforcement officers take an alternative course of action—such as "lecture and release" or referral to a program or service—to address the presumed underlying cause of the alleged legal violation (e.g., mental health concern; substance use; lack of safe, stable housing; etc.). In some jurisdictions, law enforcement diverts people by transporting them to hospitals or triage centers that can assess and address their needs, rather than arresting them. Some jurisdictions also pair specially trained officers with civilian mental health and social service workers to respond to calls, or they deploy civilians instead of uniformed, armed law enforcement to de-escalate incidents and prevent them from ending in tragedy. Pre-arrest diversion results in no arrest or referral for charges.¹⁷
- **Post-arrest/booking diversion:** This diversion option is similar to pre-arrest diversion, but the referral by law enforcement occurs after arrest and booking.
- **Pre-charge diversion:** Following referral for prosecution by law enforcement, prosecutors withhold filing charges and provide an alternative course of action (e.g., stipulate that a person remain crime-free for a specified period of time, participate in behavioral health treatment, participate in education classes, conduct community service or other types of victim restoration). Satisfactory completion of pre-charge diversion typically results in charges not being issued.



Post-charge/pre-conviction diversion: Following the filing of charges by prosecution or as part of
the plea negotiation process, an agreement may result in one or more specified conditions (e.g.,
participation in programs or services including, in some jurisdictions, a pre-plea specialty or problemsolving court). Satisfactory completion of diversion at this stage typically results in the dismissal or
reduction in the level of formal charges (felony to misdemeanor or forfeiture).

The respective agencies should adopt clear policies and criteria that promote the appropriate use of diversion options at each decision point—beginning at the initial contact with law enforcement.¹⁸ In jurisdictions where few diversion options exist, new programs will need to be developed.¹⁹ Community members can be particularly valuable partners, since they have deep knowledge of the prevalent local concerns, the approaches that might be most effective in addressing them, and resources that can be rallied to offer supportive services. Another benefit of some diversion options is that they require the restoration of victims (for instance, through a restorative justice program, letter of apology, or restitution) as a condition of participation; this may yield a more prompt and satisfactory resolution for victims. Each agency should promote new diversion options and provide training to staff on how and when to use them appropriately.



3. Authorize releases before first appearance hearings ("delegated release authority").

Keeping a person in pretrial custody when it is otherwise safe to quickly release them is costly to both the person and the system. Even just the few hours spent in police lockup or awaiting booking in jail exacts a toll and can cost the person who is detained a job, housing, or family relationships.²⁰ Indeed, research shows that people who are detained in jail are more likely to suffer these consequences—and are more likely to be convicted and sentenced to incarceration and to recidivate—than similar people who are released quickly.²¹ Keeping a person in pretrial custody also taxes the system: it contributes to jail crowding and keeps jail personnel away from other essential duties.

Keeping a person in pretrial custody when it is otherwise safe to quickly release them is costly to both the person and the system.

To expedite the release of someone who is highly likely to appear in court on their own and remain law-abiding, judicial officers may give other professionals in the pretrial system—such as pretrial agencies, law enforcement, prosecutors, or jail staff—the authority to release a person before their first appearance hearing (this is often referred to as "delegated release authority").²² Typically, because of local policies or state laws, jurisdictions limit delegated release to people who have been charged with lower-level offenses and meet other criteria, such as having a relatively lower score on a pretrial assessment tool.

This process can replace another common type of delegated release authority: a financially based bond schedule. Allowing someone to be released based on their ability to afford a financial condition benefits the wealthy and penalizes those without financial means, all without reference to the person's

likelihood of success when released. Using different criteria—such as a combination of a person's assessment scores, current charges, and case-specific circumstances—presents an opportunity for release decisions to be more equitable, more consistent, safer, and more effective in protecting community well-being and safety.

As with other release policies, the jurisdiction should adopt clear policies and guidance on delegated release authority to encourage its consistent, timely, and equitable use.



4. Conduct meaningful first appearance hearings, where the person charged is represented by counsel and has the opportunity to be released.

The "first appearance" in a criminal proceeding is often a person's first chance to be seen by a judicial officer. At this hearing, a decision is typically made about whether the person will be released before trial and under what, if any, conditions.²³ In jurisdictions that use financial conditions of release, the imposition of a monetary bond can be equivalent to an order of pretrial detention. Further, many release conditions, such as electronic monitoring, house arrest, or burdensome in-person reporting requirements, impose significant restrictions on a person's physical freedom.

In short, the first appearance hearing is a substantive proceeding that will significantly impact both the person's liberty and the course of the case. As such, it should not be treated as an administrative or *pro forma* matter. Instead, the person charged with an offense should be provided with competent legal representation, and both the defense attorney and prosecutor should be prepared to provide the judicial officer with all the information needed to make a sound release decision.²⁴ Victims also have a right to be heard either directly or through prosecutorial representation.

The defense should be given an opportunity to offer arguments regarding pretrial release, conditions, and diversion.²⁵ Further, since financial conditions are meant to assure release (and because wealth should not determine whether a person is detained pretrial), such conditions—if used at all—should be used only after assessing a person's ability to pay. The judicial officer should be required to provide a rationale—whether orally or in writing—for any decision to impose conditions or to hold a person in jail. There should also be an opportunity for the determination to be appealed—or at least reviewed or reconsidered.

The first appearance hearing is a substantive proceeding that will significantly impact both the person and the course of the case.

Best practices are for first appearances to occur as soon as possible following arrest. Many jurisdictions require first appearance hearings to be held within 24 or 48 hours of arrest; however, this varies from jurisdiction to jurisdiction.

Counsel at First Appearance

In the majority of jurisdictions, defense counsel is not present at first appearance hearings. Yet, research demonstrates the many benefits that having defense counsel at these hearings brings to the criminal legal system, including reductions in the number of people detained pretrial and reductions in the use and amounts of financial conditions of pretrial release.²⁶ Importantly, counsel at first appearance also enhances procedural justice: people report more satisfaction with court services and an increased perception that the proceedings are fair. This, in turn, results in greater compliance with court-ordered pretrial release conditions and a greater likelihood of returning to court for future hearings. Jurisdictions should therefore require and ensure that, at first appearance, every person is represented by defense counsel.²⁷

But merely having defense counsel present at first appearance is not enough. The system must provide counsel with relevant information about the case (such as the arrest record and any pretrial assessment report, including results of an actuarial tool) in advance of the hearing and sufficient time to confer with their client in a private space. Without the relevant information and time with their client, defense counsel would not otherwise be prepared to present mitigating information to the judicial officer.



5. Detain a person pretrial only when state law allows and no conditions reasonably assure pretrial success, and ensure due process protections.

When a person comes before a judicial officer in a pretrial hearing, the judicial officer should make an explicit and purposeful decision whether to release or detain the person pretrial. Because a person charged with a crime has not been convicted, the law has a strong presumption in favor of release: the Supreme Court has held that the U.S. Constitution requires that release be the "norm" and pretrial detention the "carefully limited exception."²⁸ Most states have constitutions and/or laws that define a group of people who can be detained before trial. Typically, this group consists of those charged with capital or other very serious crimes. Most states have also articulated (through their laws or court cases) the limited circumstances when those eligible for pretrial release can be detained. Generally, and at a minimum, those circumstances are when no condition of release, or combination of conditions, can provide reasonable assurance that the person will not flee or, in most states, will not threaten public or victim safety.²⁹

Because a person charged with a crime has not been convicted, the law has a strong presumption in favor of release.



Therefore, the decision to detain pretrial should generally involve answering two questions:

- First, is the person eligible for pretrial detention under state law?
- Second, is there no condition of release, or combination of conditions, that provides reasonable assurance that the person will not flee and will not threaten public or victim safety?

The judicial officer can order pretrial detention only if the answer to both questions is "yes." If the person is not eligible for pretrial detention *or* if release conditions *can* provide the court with reasonable assurance of the person's court appearance and community safety—including victim safety—the person should be released. When making this determination, the judicial officer should also consider the impact of pretrial detention on the person—including their employment, family responsibilities, and health—as well as the impact on the person's dependents and community.

To operationalize the preventive detention process, many jurisdictions require that the state request such a hearing. However it is initiated, the judicial officer must schedule the hearing as soon as possible, keeping in mind the person who is being detained in the meantime and the time needed for prosecution and defense counsel to prepare for the hearing. At the hearing, it is essential that the person's due process rights are protected and honored; this includes representation by counsel, the right to present evidence and to have an expeditious appeal, and the requirement that the court provide written reasons for their decision.³⁰

Importantly, if the decision is to release—which it should be in the vast majority of cases, given the strong presumption against detention—the imposition of a monetary bond as a condition of release should not result in the person's detention. *No one* should be detained simply because they lack access to financial means.

Financial Conditions of Release

Access to money should never determine whether or not someone is released before trial. Financial conditions are not shown to improve pretrial outcomes, but they *are* shown to yield racial and economic disparities in incarceration. Therefore, APPR supports the elimination of financial conditions altogether.

Yet, most jurisdictions continue to rely heavily on financial conditions of release. This means that if a person has access to sufficient funds to pay the financial conditions set by a judicial officer— conditions that are often determined by a fixed bond schedule—the person is released. If the person does not have access to sufficient funds, they stay in jail. This might—and often does—result in the release of people with \$50,000 bonds who pose a threat to community safety and, conversely, the (often unintentional) detention of others with \$500 bonds who could safely be released.

Using financial conditions in this way contributes to the negative impacts of pretrial detention: increased pressure to make a plea deal, greater likelihood of a guilty verdict, harsher sentences, higher rates of rearrest, and disruption or loss of housing, jobs, and family. It also leads to disproportionate detention of BIPOC who, on average, receive higher financial conditions than similarly situated white people.³¹

Additionally, financial conditions have not been demonstrated to do what conditions of release are supposed to do: improve pretrial outcomes. Multiple research studies have concluded that secured conditions (where the person must pay money up front to be released) do not incentivize return to court or law-abiding behavior.³² As a federal judge noted in a nearly 200-page opinion after holding an extensive trial and reviewing all of the research to date, "The reliable, credible evidence in the record from other jurisdictions shows that release on secured financial conditions does not assure better rates of appearance or of law-abiding conduct before trial compared to release on unsecured bonds or nonfinancial conditions of supervision."³³

Simply put, the use of financial conditions—particularly secured financial conditions—should be abolished. States should provide the courts with a process to make *intentional* detention decisions for the limited pool of people legally eligible to be detained. Absent such a structure, jurisdictions should use financial conditions only when the judicial officer finds that no other condition of release can reasonably assure a person's appearance in court or the safety of the community. If the intention is for the person to be released, financial conditions should not be used, thus ensuring that the person will in fact be released.

	
∽ —	
 ✓ —	
	

6. Use a locally validated, actuarial pretrial assessment to inform decisions about pretrial release conditions.

Actuarial pretrial assessments estimate the likelihood that people will appear in court for pretrial proceedings and remain arrest-free while on pretrial release. These assessments are developed using large data sets about people who previously came into contact with the criminal legal system to identify factors that are correlated with a lower likelihood of pretrial success. Using an algorithm, the assessment provides decision makers with information about how people with similar profiles to the person in front of them have performed on pretrial release. They generate consistent and relevant data and information that can help them determine the appropriate release conditions, if any. However, they should never, by themselves, *dictate* the outcome nor should they be the sole criterion used to determine whether someone is released in the first place. As discussed in policy 5, eligibility for detention is governed by criteria and standards set forth in state and federal law.

Most people who are released will appear in court and be law-abiding, but some will need assistance to succeed.³⁴ Assessment results can help identify the people who are most likely to do well with no support and those who may benefit from assistance. Such additional assistance may include court date notifications, community support services, or some form of pretrial supervision. Assessment results can be used to help allocate these often-scarce resources to the people most in need.³⁵

Most actuarial assessments rely largely on information that is already available to judicial officers who make pretrial decisions (e.g., "rap sheets" and failure to appear records) but that is currently presented without context or analysis. With actuarial assessments, this data is consistently and transparently translated into assessment scores.

Pretrial assessment tools often serve as a catalyst for system change. Jurisdictions that adopt them can (and often do) use the opportunity to make other system improvements, such as reducing their use of financial conditions, instituting a practice of delegated release, and having counsel at first appearance.

Empirical research demonstrates that assessment tools do a good job of predicting court appearance and no new arrest, and they predict more accurately than human decision making alone.³⁶ Research also finds limited, if any, predictive bias, and assessment tools do not appear to exacerbate existing racial disparities.³⁷ While studies on the impact of pretrial assessments are ongoing, experience in the field provides reason to believe that an instrument that directs judicial attention to relevant information—along with a decision framework that generates consistent, neutral recommendations about release conditions—can contribute to making pretrial decisions more consistent and effective.³⁸

Any jurisdiction that uses a pretrial assessment should complete regular (every one to three years) validation studies to ensure that the tool is predictive for the local population overall and does not have predictive bias with respect to any subgroup.

Support for Pretrial Assessments

An actuarial pretrial assessment can play a positive role in the pretrial improvement process. Organizations such as the American Bar Association, the Conference of Chief Justices, the National Association of Pretrial Services Agencies, and the National Institute of Corrections all endorse the use of pretrial assessments as part of a comprehensive overhaul of the pretrial system.

The status quo is a system where decisions are made quickly and often based upon the judicial officer's professional (subjective) judgment alone. Yet, empirical research demonstrates that assessment tools predict court appearance and arrest-free rates more accurately than human decision making alone. Research also finds limited, if any, predictive bias, and assessment tools do not appear to exacerbate existing racial disparities.³⁹

While an actuarial assessment can't eliminate systemic bias in the criminal legal system, it can help minimize individual bias (implicit or otherwise) and make decisions more consistent and more transparent. And it offers an opportunity to document and evaluate pretrial decisions.

Indeed, many jurisdictions are undertaking significant data collection and research efforts to ensure that the assessments they adopt are not biased, that the impacts of their reform efforts are fully transparent, and that, unlike the current money-focused system, there is accountability. Data collection efforts are also demonstrating to system stakeholders that most people succeed pretrial and that only a very small number are arrested or do not appear. This contributes greatly to culture change and improved decision making.



7. When setting release conditions, make individualized determinations and use the least restrictive conditions if any are deemed necessary—that reasonably assure court appearance and community safety.

Many decades of research indicate that most people—approximately 80 percent—will return to court and remain law-abiding when released to the community.⁴⁰ In most cases, they do this even if released solely on a promise to appear.⁴¹ However, a judicial officer may determine that conditions are necessary to reasonably assure a person's court appearance and community safety, including victim safety. When that is the case, those release conditions should be the least restrictive possible.⁴² That is, they should limit the person's freedom as little as possible. While pretrial release conditions are not as substantial an infringement on liberty as pretrial detention, they are often burdensome and can impair someone's ability to contribute to preparation of their defense and/or maintain positive work, school, or family responsibilities.

Financial conditions of release are the default conditions in many jurisdictions. However, research has not shown that secured monetary bonds improve either court appearance or arrest rates.⁴³ And such conditions often result in detention. As a result, secured financial conditions should generally be considered one of the *most* restrictive conditions and, therefore, a last resort for judicial officers—if they are considered at all.

Judicial officers should avoid blanket conditions and must instead look at the person before them and decide whether conditions of release are necessary and, if so, what those conditions are.

While some may see imposing conditions on everyone—and multiple conditions on most people—as good insurance for success, the research indicates that this is actually counterproductive.⁴⁴ Ordering participation in unnecessary programming of any kind may disrupt positive activities in people's lives and place them in settings with those who have more serious antisocial attitudes and habits.⁴⁵ Further, both community-based and government resources are limited and should be reserved for those with the highest demonstrated need (that is, those assessed as least likely to succeed), and they should not be imposed based solely on the offense charged.

Finally, longstanding legal principles maintain that pretrial decisions should be *individualized*—meaning that conditions should *not* be imposed based solely on charge or assessment scores. Judicial officers should avoid blanket conditions and should instead look at the person before them and decide whether conditions of release are necessary and, if so, what those conditions are.⁴⁶ In addition, they must ensure that conditions offer essential assistance without undermining positive factors (e.g., job, school, family obligations). While a tool such as a release conditions matrix may bring some parameters and consistency to decision making, it is incumbent on the courts to individualize conditions of release.⁴⁷ If circumstances demonstrate that a recommended condition is not necessary (or, vice versa, a condition not recommended seems useful), judicial officers should use their discretion accordingly.



8. Offer supportive pretrial services to the people most likely to benefit from them.

In many places across the nation, the services and interventions that the criminal legal system provides to people on pretrial release are undergoing a transition. In the past, these services were primarily focused on monitoring and enforcing compliance with court-ordered release conditions. Today, many agencies are moving away from this model and toward providing assistance and support. This change is the result of the field's evolving understanding of pretrial legal principles and research, a recognition that pretrial supervision is not the same as probation (and legally cannot be used as punishment), and an urgency to achieve more fairness, consistency, and economic and racial equity.

Today, many pretrial services agencies are moving away from solely monitoring compliance toward providing assistance and support.

These supportive services are offered by court systems, pretrial services agencies, and communitybased providers. They vary in type and scope, but they all have one thing in common: a focus on helping people succeed while on pretrial release. Notably, many of these services are not included as court-ordered release conditions.⁴⁸ They may be *offered* to everyone or to select people by the court, defense, or a pretrial services department, depending on who is best positioned to know the people's needs and the services most likely to support success.

The services should address the various challenges or barriers that may stand in the way of a person returning to court, such as transportation or childcare needs. The services might be as simple as text or phone reminders of court dates and changes in dates. They may also include referrals to community-based services. Jurisdictions should think creatively and partner with others to develop a supportive inventory of pretrial services.

If the service is court-ordered, the released person should *not* be charged fees for the service, since an inability to pay such fees is often treated as a violation of release conditions and can result in detention.



9. Implement clear, consistent, and equitable policies for responding to a person's behavior on pretrial release.

All people who are released pretrial are expected to return to court for their pretrial hearings and remain law-abiding. But many people who are released pretrial are subject to various other court-ordered requirements, such as respecting no contact orders, maintaining or seeking employment, abiding by a curfew or travel restrictions, and complying with drug testing or alcohol monitoring. Although not all of these requirements necessarily contribute to helping the person return to court or remain law-abiding, failure to abide by these conditions may result in an administrative response by pretrial staff or a referral to court for judicial review. Depending on the nature of the noncompliance, it could result in



a modification of supervision practices (e.g., requiring the person to check in more frequently), revised release conditions (e.g., additional conditions), or, in some instances, revocation of release, resulting in pretrial detention. Given the often-discretionary nature of deciding how to respond to violations, this is a decision point where racial disparities and inconsistent treatment of people are of particular concern.⁴⁹

Implementing a clear, consistent, and equitable policy for responding to behavior while on pretrial release achieves many goals, including preventing unnecessary detention and empowering pretrial services to make service referrals or take other actions more directly connected to helping the person succeed. Such a policy would incorporate immediate, customized, specific, and meaningful rewards for positive behavior, such as shifting people to a less restrictive level of supervision or even asking the judicial officer to remove them from pretrial services entirely. The policy would also indicate that responses to negative behavior should be swift, proportionate, fair, and individualized.⁵⁰

Implementing a clear, consistent, and equitable policy for responding to behavior while on pretrial release can prevent unnecessary pretrial detention and empower pretrial services to make service referrals.

A framework for rewards and responses should be developed in conjunction with system and community stakeholders. The framework would include different levels of positive and noncompliant behavior (e.g., low, medium, high) and different responses for each level of behavior. It should examine the person's behavior and determine whether they are a threat to community safety or of failing to appear in court. Violations associated with mental or behavior health issues should be addressed in a supportive setting and not in a punitive manner. To be transparent, this framework needs to be communicated clearly and carefully with the people being supervised.



10. Process cases swiftly and effectively.

Whether the person is detained or remains in the community, lengthy case processing is harmful to the person and prejudicial to the just and fair disposition of a case. The longer the pretrial period, the more likely it is that a person will have trouble appearing at court hearings⁵¹ and continuing to comply with onerous release conditions. A lengthy pretrial period can cause problems in securing witnesses and maintaining adequate counsel⁵² and in supporting victims. Therefore, cases should be processed as swiftly as possible, consistent with administering justice and the constitutional due process rights of the person accused.

Whether the person is detained or remains in the community, lengthy case processing is harmful to the person and prejudicial to the just and fair disposition of a case.

One of the primary causes of delay is repeated postponements of proceedings.⁵³ They are frustrating to those affected and expensive for the criminal legal system. They promote distrust in the system



from victims, those accused, and the community. Postponements can only be reduced when courts, prosecutors, and defense attorneys collaborate to adopt best practices and rules around limiting adjournments and requiring attorneys to be prepared to proceed at court appearances. Exceptions should be made, however, when postponements are in the interest of the person accused.

It may be useful for an interdisciplinary team to collect and review data on case processing to identify bottlenecks or areas of delay. This will allow the jurisdiction to collaboratively implement strategies to reduce case processing times.



11. Institute a practice of regularly reviewing people who are in jail pretrial to determine why they are detained and whether they should be released.

Following the initial decision of release or detention, it is important to continue to evaluate who remains in jail before trial (a process sometimes referred to as "sequential bail review").⁵⁴ This process might involve determining the reasons for a person's continued detention and, potentially, whether their pretrial release conditions should be modified.

There are many reasons why the court might want to later modify the initial detention decision: it may be found that a person was unable to afford a secured bond that the judicial officer had assumed the person would meet; circumstances for the person may have changed such that they can be safely released; and/or the person may be detained for a period longer than the sentence would allow for the underlying offense. However, there is often no standardized method of identifying these instances and reviewing a case.

An increasing number of jurisdictions have begun to implement systems for conducting regular reviews of their pretrial jail population. Jurisdictions create jail population review teams to examine the jail data and identify people who should appropriately be released.⁵⁵ These teams frequently include representatives from local pretrial system partner agencies as well as community service providers, and should include people who are able to petition the court and obtain a court hearing. At the policy level, these teams use data to examine the pretrial jail population, address trends and drivers of this population, and implement policy and practice changes that further reduce unnecessary detention. At the individual level, the teams examine the reasons that people remain in detention and, where appropriate, petition the court to review and potentially modify their conditions of release. The team may implement automatic reviews of financial conditions within 24 or 48 hours after the first appearance hearing to verify that detention was intended.

Pretrial jail population review teams examine who remains in jail pretrial and identify people who can be safely released.

As with other practices, the jurisdiction should adopt clear policies and guidance regarding the purpose and scope of the jail review team. These policies should be shared with broader system partners.

Implementation Roadmap



1. Convene an inclusive policy team composed of both community and system stakeholders, and start by defining the vision, goals, and purposes of the pretrial system.

Embarking on a pretrial improvement process should begin by convening an inclusive policy team.⁵⁶ Any effort to make and support effective and lasting change requires the active participation of *all* stakeholders: those who are familiar with the daily operations of the pretrial phase, from first contact with a law enforcement officer to case resolution, and those who are impacted personally by pretrial policies and practices, such as members of the community, people charged with crimes and their loved ones, and victim advocates. Involving, from the beginning, all those with crucial expertise and perspectives ensures that pretrial policies and practices meaningfully incorporate everyone's interests, solutions, and values.

Involving, from the beginning, all those with crucial expertise and perspectives ensures that pretrial policies and practices meaningfully incorporate everyone's interests, solutions, and values.

Successfully involving community members in the policymaking process may require the jurisdiction to establish a well-defined and active role for community representatives. It may also mean changing the way system stakeholders typically conduct their business, for instance, by sharing data and information, changing meeting times and locations, or offering transportation or other assistance to enable true community participation. Using a neutral facilitator instead of a system stakeholder to guide discussions is yet another way to ensure robust engagement.

Choices about improvements to any part of the system will be more successful and sustainable when the entire team can design them, assess their impact, and decide together which to implement. Engaging all stakeholders in the system facilitates buy-in from all participants and decreases the possibility that any new policies will have unintended or unanticipated consequences. Convening this body, empowering it with the necessary authority and resources, and establishing rules and guidelines for how the group will operate are critical first steps in establishing a more just and effective pretrial system.

One of the team's initial tasks should be to create a vision for their pretrial system. A vision articulates the values that will drive their work, what they hope to achieve, and how success will be defined. From that vision, the team would decide on the concrete goals and purpose of their improved pretrial system. These would provide the framework through which to examine their current practices and determine the changes needed to achieve their goals. The policy team should affirm the goals and create workplans to drive implementation. Ultimately, the team would create written policies that codify the changes and agree on the measures to be used to assess the progress and performance of the changes. As further advancements are made, the team should continuously monitor outcomes and address challenges and opportunities for further improvement.

APPR ADVANCING PRETRIAL POLICY & RESEARCH



2. Continuously educate system and community stakeholders about pretrial justice.

Improving the pretrial system requires stakeholders to question policies, practices, and decision making processes that have been followed for decades. Ongoing education about the current system as well as pretrial law and research serves as a foundation for rethinking the system and envisioning an improved future—one that is more fair and more just.

Ongoing education serves as a foundation for rethinking the system and envisioning an improved future—one that is more fair and more just.

Examining how the pretrial system currently operates ensures that everyone working to improve it understands what seems to be working well and the ways in which it can be improved. For example, compiling an overview of the jail population helps people see who is detained in the jail and why they are there. It can also serve as a baseline to use when reviewing whether the changes had the desired effect on the jail population.⁵⁷ System mapping is another activity that helps team members examine the current system; through the exercise, people come to a joint understanding of the many steps involved in processing a criminal case.⁵⁸ It brings together policymakers, first-line supervisors, and line staff to graphically describe the pretrial system, the key decision points within the system, the information available at each decision point, and the time lapse from one key step to the next. The process brings to the surface issues for further inquiry and sometimes helps identify quick solutions to bottlenecks or inefficiencies.

It is also critical to have a solid understanding of pretrial law and research; it provides a framework around which improvements can be made. Pretrial law includes state and federal constitutions and statutes, as well as court rules and case law. It varies significantly from state to state but often provides rules or principles that must be followed when determining whom to release, whom to detain, how to detain them, and how to set conditions of release.⁵⁹ Conducting a local pretrial legal analysis and sharing the results with the policy team—as well as discussing whether local practices align with the law—is an informative and productive exercise.

Pretrial research is the evolving body of empirical knowledge that provides evidence about what works to help people return to court pretrial and abide by the law while on pretrial release.⁶⁰ Equipped with such knowledge, and after comparing current practices with what the empirical research instructs, pretrial policies and practices can be reengineered to result in a system that aligns with the law, research, and stakeholders' vision and values.

Ongoing education—not just one-off training presentations—is key to reaffirming knowledge, building support, and continuously improving as new opportunities are identified and new learnings emerge.

Ч	NEWS
U	

3. Increase public understanding about pretrial justice.

Communicating with community members and the media is an important part of building understanding and support for effective, equitable pretrial improvements. Identifying communications activities in advance of implementing any changes will help you inform audiences, increase support for pretrial improvements, and, ultimately, create a more transparent system. Communications can be used to inform, persuade, motivate, increase understanding, generate interest, raise awareness, and enhance trust in the system and its actors. Proactively engaging your community, and communicating clearly with the public and local media, will build knowledge and support for equitable and effective pretrial improvements.

Identifying communications activities in advance of implementing any changes will help you inform audiences, increase support for pretrial improvements, and, ultimately, create a more transparent system.

Jurisdictions that do not proactively communicate with community leaders, residents, and local media risk fostering assumptions and misinformation that can take months or longer to overcome. If people do not feel informed about the issues or if they have inaccurate information, they may default to outdated assumptions about crime, including an inflated sense that people on pretrial release pose more of a danger to community safety than research and data show. By developing a communications strategy, jurisdictions can create a starting point for conversations about a pretrial system that results in better outcomes for everyone.

An effective communications strategy should focus on framing messages in a way that will help achieve critical goals and objectives. In many cases, people—whether the people in the system, media, or the public—hold worldviews about crime, community well-being and safety, and the criminal legal system that might run counter to the messages you want to convey about advancements your jurisdiction will implement. Taking the time to prepare clear explanations and messages will assist in navigating those challenges and fostering more productive conversations around pretrial justice.

4. Evaluate pretrial performance measures regularly, and continually improve policies and practices.

It is critical that jurisdictions monitor their performance to ensure that the policies and practices implemented are functioning as anticipated and producing the desired results.⁶¹ This process should begin *before* any changes are made so as to establish a baseline against which to measure the effects of the changes once implemented. The policy team should identify what outcomes they aim to achieve and clearly define the metrics that will be used to determine success.⁶² Performance measures help evaluate new practices, track changes over time, and facilitate communications with others. Creating



a reporting template or dashboard can also be helpful so that, when the metrics are reported, they are accurate, actionable, and easy to understand.

With data-based knowledge, people are better positioned to periodically revise local policies and practices in their effort to institutionalize a culture of continuous improvement.

It is important that the policy team regularly review outcome data to determine what is working and what could be improved. Policy advancements always require iteration and modification if they are to achieve and maintain maximum success; policy team members will need to remain open to adjusting their decisions based on the data they receive. Community groups and the public—who have a strong interest in seeing the results of reform efforts—should participate in the ongoing assessment of the pretrial improvements and the development of effective responses or adjustments.

Building a Data Infrastructure

Making criminal legal system data available and accessible to system and community stakeholders is essential to achieving pretrial justice. With reliable data, a jurisdiction can review outcomes and measure its performance. Data allow a team to determine to what extent they are meeting their pretrial goals, for example:

- How many people are being released and detained, and what are their charges and demographics?
- To what extent are people on pretrial release remaining arrest-free and appearing in court?
- How has the jail's pretrial population changed in number and type since the new practices were implemented?

Using data to answer these and other questions expands people's knowledge beyond anecdotal information that they may already encounter and provides them with a more complete understanding of their pretrial system's strengths and opportunities for improvement. As advocates have stated: "Any attempt at real, lasting change will require a significant investment in our ability to collect, store, and share data. We cannot confirm that new policies work without tracking their outcomes. We cannot address racial injustice without data about policing practices, court processes, jail populations, and prison systems."⁶³

With access to pretrial data, people can measure the success or failure of changes and improvements. However, most jurisdictions do not currently have this ability. Therefore, any effort to improve the system of pretrial justice must be accompanied by an investment in data infrastructure to ensure that system stakeholders can measure their performance, see their problems, identify the solutions, and hold themselves accountable.

Conclusion

Making lasting improvements to the pretrial system requires changes not just to policy and practice but to organizational culture, cross-agency partnerships, and methods of engaging—in some cases, for the first time—the community. This is hard work. And, until recently, it was work that had been undertaken in earnest by only a handful of jurisdictions. But now there is a growing roster of states and counties that are deeply engaged in these efforts—for good reason. They see that pretrial improvements can pay enormous dividends: fairer outcomes, reduced jail populations, increased community safety and well-being, more efficient use of resources, and greater racial equity.

APPR is here to help, whether you're just getting started or whether your jurisdiction has been at it for years. We have a large and active community of practitioners who use the APPR Community to ask questions of their peers, share learnings, strategize about challenges, and educate themselves and each other about the latest developments in the field. The APPR website also contains a wide range of resources regarding pretrial justice, research, laws, racial equity, community engagement, and pretrial assessment. By signing up with the APPR website, you receive announcements and registration opportunities for our many training sessions on a variety of key pretrial topics. And for those looking for more hands-on assistance, we offer the opportunity to become a Learning Site and receive direct guidance from our team.

This is an exciting—and, yes, challenging—time to be engaged in this important work. We look forward to assisting you in your efforts and learning from your example.

Notes

1. McCoy, C. (2008). Caleb was right: Pretrial decisions determine mostly everything. *Berkeley Journal of Criminal Law*, *12*(2), 135–150. https://www.bjcl.org/assets/files/12_2-BerkeleyJCrimL135.pdf

 Dobbie, W., Goldin, J., & Yang, C. S. (2018). The effects of pretrial detention on conviction, future crime, and employment: Evidence from randomly assigned judges. *American Economic Review, 108*(2), 201–240. https://pubs.aeaweb.org/doi/ pdf/10.1257/aer.20161503; Leslie, E., & Pope, N. G. (2017). The unintended impact of pretrial detention on case outcomes: Evidence from New York City arraignments. *Journal of Law and Economics, 60*(3), 529–557. http://econweb.umd.edu/~pope/ pretrial_paper.pdf; Petersen, N. (2020). Do detainees plead guilty faster? A survival analysis of pretrial detention and the timing of guilty pleas. *Criminal Justice Policy Review, 31*(7), 1015–1035. https://www.nyapsa.org/assets/files/0887403419838020.pdf

 Lowenkamp, C. T., VanNostrand, M., & Holsinger, A. (2013a). *Investigating the impact of pretrial detention on sentencing outcomes*. Laura and John Arnold Foundation. https://craftmediabucket.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/
 PDFs/LJAF_Report_state-sentencing_FNL.pdf; Oleson, J. C., Lowenkamp, C. T., Wooldredge, J., VanNostrand, M., & Cadigan, T. (2014). The sentencing consequences of federal pretrial supervision. *Crime & Delinquency*, *63*(3), 313–333. https://doi. org/10.1177/0011128714551406

4. Didwania, S. H. (2020). The immediate consequences of federal pretrial detention. *American Law and Economics Review*. https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2809818; Leslie & Pope, 2017; Lowenkamp et al., 2013a; Oleson et al., 2014; Stevenson, M. T. (2018). Distortion of justice: How the inability to pay bail affects case outcomes. *The Journal of Law, Economics, & Organization, 34*(4), 511–542. https://academic.oup.com/jleo/article/34/4/511/5100740

5. Dobbie et al., 2018; Leslie & Pope, 2017; Lowenkamp, C. T., VanNostrand, M., & Holsinger, A. (2013b). *The hidden costs of pretrial detention*. Laura and John Arnold Foundation. https:// craftmediabucket.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/PDFs/LJAF_ Report_hidden-costs_FNL.pdf

 Sawyer, W., & Wagner, P. (2020). Mass incarceration: The whole pie 2020. Prison Policy Initiative. https://www.prisonpolicy. org/reports/pie2020.html; U.S. Commission on Civil Rights.
 (2022). The civil rights implications of cash bail (Briefing Report January 2022). https://www.usccr.gov/files/2022-01/USCCR-Bail-Reform-Report-01-20-22.pdf

7. Pretrial Justice Institute. (2017). *Pretrial justice: How much does it cost*? https://portal.ct.gov/-/media/Malloy-Archive/ Reimagining-Justice/Reimagining-Justice---Pretrial-justice-at-what-cost-PJI-2017.pdf?sc_lang=en&hash=2D9ACDE29DDD 4EE58364277140A64B8F; Rabuy, B. (2017). *Pretrial detention costs* \$13.6 *billion each year*. Prison Policy Initiative. https://www. prisonpolicy.org/blog/2017/02/07/pretrial_cost/ 8. Pilnik, L., Hankey, B., Simoni, E., Kennedy, S., Moore, L. J., & Sawyer, J. (2017). A framework for pretrial justice: Essential elements of an effective pretrial system and agency (NIC Accession No. 032831). National Institute of Corrections. https:// info.nicic.gov/nicrp/system/files/032831.pdf

9. Schnacke, T. R. (2014). Fundamentals of bail: A resource guide for pretrial practitioners and a framework for American pretrial reform (NIC Accession No. 028360). National Institute of Corrections. https://s3.amazonaws.com/static.nicic.gov/ Library/028360.pdf

10. Subramanian, R., Delaney, R., Roberts, S., Fishman, N., & McGarry, P. (2015). *Incarceration's front door: The misuse of jails in America*. Vera Institute of Justice. https://www.vera.org/ downloads/publications/incarcerations-front-door-report_02.pdf

11. Didwania, 2020; Dobbie et al., 2018; Leslie & Pope, 2017; Lowenkamp et al., 2013a, 2013b

12. National Association of Pretrial Services Agencies (NAPSA). (2020). Standard 2.1. In *Standards on pretrial release: Revised* 2020. https://drive.google.com/file/d/1edS2bltwfNROieGeu1A6q KluTfzqop92/view; Pilnik et al., 2017 (p. 20)

13. American Bar Association (ABA). (2007). Standards 10-2.1 and 10.22. In *ABA standards for criminal justice: Pretrial release* (3rd ed.). https://www.americanbar.org/groups/criminal_justice/ publications/criminal_justice_section_archive/crimjust_ standards_pretrialrelease_toc/

14. Cooke, B., Diop, B. Z., Fishbane, A., Hayes, J., Ouss, A., & Shan, A. (2018). Using behavioral science to improve criminal justice outcomes: Preventing failures to appear in court. University of Chicago Crime Lab & Ideas 42. http://ideas42.org/ wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Using-Behavioral-Science-to-Improve-Criminal-Justice-Outcomes.pdf

15. Pilnik et al., 2017 (pp. 20-21)

16. For more information, see *Diversion 101*, a 12-part article series about diversion (https://cepp.com/project/diversion/). See also the Diversion Program Map (https://diversion.ndaa.org/), a national directory of prosecutor-led diversion programs.

17. NAPSA, 2020 (Standard 2.1)

 See Diversion 101: A Step-by-Step Guide to Policy-Driven, Research-Informed Diversionary Options (https://cepp.com/ wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Diversion-101-A-Step-by-Step-Guide-to-Policy-Driven-Research-Informed-Diversionary-Options-2019.pdf).

19. The policy team may have to secure new funding, identify service providers, and establish screening protocols and formal agreements.

20. Subramanian et al., 2015

21. Lowenkamp et al., 2013a; Oleson et al., 2014

22. NAPSA, 2020 (Standard 3.1(a)); Pilnick et al., 2017 (p. 21)

APPR ADVANCING PRETRIAL POLICY & RESEARCH

23. A first appearance is distinct from any other appearance that someone might have before a magistrate, bail commissioner, or equivalent judicial officer while in jail immediately following arrest. Those proceedings are typically less formal and comprehensive than a first appearance.

24. Metzger, P. R., Hoeffel, J. C., Meeks, K. M., & Sidi, S. (2021). Ending injustice: Solving the initial appearance crisis. Deason Center. https://www.smu.edu/-/media/Site/Law/Deason-Center/ Publications/Public-Defense/Initial-Appearance-Campaign/ Ending-Injustice-Solving-The-Initial-Appearance-Crisis-FINAL. pdf; Mrozinski, M., & Buetow, C. (2020). Access to counsel at first appearance: A key component of pretrial justice. National Legal Aid & Defender Association. https://www.nlada.org/sites/default/ files/NLADA%20CAFA.pdf

25. NAPSA, 2020 (Standards 3.2(c) and 3.2(d))

- 26. Mrozinski & Buetow, 2020
- 27. Pilnick et al., 2017 (pp. 26–27)

28. United States v. Salerno, 481 U.S. 739, 750 (1987).

29. NAPSA, 2020 (Standard 3.4); ABA, 2007 (Standards 10-5.8 and 10-5.9); Pilnick et al., 2017 (p. 10)

30. *Salerno*, 481 U.S. at 739, 750; U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1; ABA, 2007 (Standard 10-5.10)

31. Demuth, S. (2003). Racial and ethnic differences in pretrial release decisions and outcomes: A comparison of Hispanic, Black, and white felony arrestees. Journal of Criminology, 41(3), 873-908. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-9125.2003.tb01007.x; Dobbie et al., 2018; Gupta, A., Hansman, C., & Frenchman, E. (2016). The heavy costs of high bail: Evidence from judge randomization. The Journal of Legal Studies, 45(2), 471-505. http://www.columbia.edu/~cjh2182/GuptaHansmanFrenchman. pdf; Leslie & Pope, 2017; Lowenkamp et al., 2013a; Philips, M. A (2012). A decade of bail research in New York City. New York Criminal Justice Agency. https://www.nyapsa.org/assets/ files/DecadeBailResearch12.pdf; Schlesinger, T. (2005). Racial and ethnic disparity in pretrial criminal processing. Justice Quarterly, 22(2), 170-192. https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/248967295_Racial_and_Ethnic_Disparity_in_ Pretrial_Criminal_Processing; Stevenson, 2018

32. Brooker, C. M. B., Jones, M. R., & Schnacke, T. R. (2014). The Jefferson County bail project: Impact study found better cost effectiveness for unsecured recognizance bonds over cash and surety bonds. Pretrial Justice Institute. http://clebp.org/images/ Jeffersion_County_Bail_Project_Impact_Study_-_PJI_2014. pdf; Jones, M. R. (2013). Unsecured bonds: The as effective and most efficient pretrial release option. Pretrial Justice Institute. https://www.nmcourts.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/ Unsecured_Bonds_The_As_Effective_and_Most_Efficient_ Pretrial_Release_Option_Jones_2013.pdf

33. O'Donnell v. Harris County, 251 F. Supp. 3d 1052 (S.D. Tex. 2017).

34. Cohen, T. H., & Reaves, B. A. (2007). State court processing statistics, 1990–2004: Pretrial release of felony defendants in state courts (NCJ 214994). U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics. https://bjs.ojp.gov/content/pub/pdf/prfdsc.pdf; Jones, 2013. For more information, see APPR's Pretrial Monitoring

research summary (https://advancingpretrial.org/appr/appr-resources/pretrial-research-summaries/).

35. NAPSA, 2020 (Standards 3.1(b) and 4.1(b)); Pilnick et al., 2017 (pp. 38–40)

36. Desmarais, S. L., Monahan, J., & Austin, J. (2021). The empirical case for pretrial risk assessment instruments. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 1–10. http://www.jfa-associates.com/ publications/reduce/Desmarais%20Monahan%20Austin.pdf

37. Desmarais et al., 2021

38. Danner, M. J. E., VanNostrand, M., & Spruance, L. M. (2015). *Risk-based pretrial release recommendation and supervision guidelines: Exploring the effect on officer recommendations, judicial decision-making, and pretrial outcome.* Luminosity. https://www.dcjs.virginia.gov/sites/dcjs.virginia.gov/ files/publications/corrections/risk-based-pretrial-releaserecommendation-and-supervision-guidelines.pdf; Goel, S., Shroff, R., Skeem, J., & Slobogin, C. (2018). The accuracy, equity, and jurisprudence of criminal risk assessment. https://doi. org/10.2139/ssrn.3306723. For more information, see APPR's *Pretrial Assessment Tools* and *Public Safety Assessment* research summaries (https://advancingpretrial.org/appr/appr-resources/ pretrial-research-summaries/).

39. Desmarais et al., 2021

40. Brooker, C. M. B. (2017). Yakima County, Washington pretrial justice system improvements: Pre- and post-implementation analysis. Pretrial Justice Institute. https://justicesystempartners. org/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/2017-Yakima-Pretrial-Pre-Post-Implementation-Study.pdf; Cohen & Reaves, 2007; Redcross, C., & Henderson, B. (with Miratrix, L., & Valentine, E.). (2019). Evaluation of pretrial justice system reforms that use the Public Safety Assessment: Effects in Mecklenburg County, North Carolina [Brief 1]. MDRC Center for Criminal Justice Research. https://www.mdrc.org/sites/default/files/PSA_Mecklenburg_ Brief1.pdf

41. Brooker et al., 2014; Jones, 2013

42. 18 USC § 3142; ABA, 2007 (Standard 10-5.2(a)); NAPSA, 2020 (Standard 1.4)

43. Barno, M., Martínez, D. N., & Williams, K. R. (2019). Exploring alternatives to cash bail: An evaluation of Orange County's Pretrial Assessment and Release Supervision (PARS) program. *American Journal of Criminal Justice*, *45*(3), 363–378. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/3qz81051; Gupta et al., 2016; Jones, 2013; Monaghan, J., van Holm, E. V., & Surprenant, C. W. (2020). Get jailed, jump bail? The impacts of cash bail on failure to appear and re-arrest rates in Orleans Parish. *American Journal of Criminal Justice*, *1*–19. https://static1.squarespace.com/static/55feb5a1e4b0134b933e5993/t/60b117a17b99fb0b3 afc7418/1622218657990/Get+bailed+jump+bail%2C+preprint. pdf

44. Georgiou, G. (2014). Does increased post-release supervision of criminal offenders reduce recidivism? Evidence from a statewide quasi-experiment. *International Review of Law and Economics*, *37*, 221–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. irle.2013.12.001; Hyatt, J. M., & Barnes, G. C. (2014). An experimental evaluation of the impact of intensive supervision on the recidivism of high-risk probationers. *Crime & Delinquency*,



63(1), 3-38. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011128714555757;

VanNostrand, M., & Keebler, G. (2009). Pretrial risk assessment in the federal court. *Federal Probation*, 73(2). https://www.uscourts.gov/sites/default/files/73_2_1_0.pdf

45. Bonta, J., Wallace-Capretta, S., & Rooney, J. (2000). A quasiexperimental evaluation of an intensive rehabilitation supervision program. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *27*(3), 312–329. https:// www.researchgate.net/publication/247744696_A_Quasi-Experimental_Evaluation_of_an_Intensive_Rehabilitation_ Supervision_Program; Lowenkamp, C. T., & Latessa, E. J. (2004). Understanding the risk principle: How and why correctional interventions can harm low-risk offenders. *Topics in Community Corrections*, *2004*, 3–8. https://www.courtinnovation.org/sites/ default/files/media/document/2020/Understanding%20the%20 Risk%20Principle.pdf

46. *Stack v. Boyle*, 342 U.S. 1, 5-6 ("Since the function of bail is limited, the fixing of bail for any individual defendant must be based upon standards relevant to the purpose of assuring the presence of *that defendant.*" (emphasis added)).

47. For more information, see https://advancingpretrial.org/psa/ factors/release-conditions-matrix/.

48. When services are not court-ordered, a person—not convicted—can choose to participate in the services without the coercion of the justice system, or they can choose not to participate in the services without fear of violating the law.

49. Pretrial Justice Institute. (2019). Smarter pretrial solutions: Responding to technical violations. https://multco-web7-psh-filesusw2.s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/Compliance_ Smarter%20Pretrial%20Solutions%20Technical%20 Violations%20-%20PJI%202019.pdf

50. NAPSA, 2020 (Standard 4.6)

51. Ferri, R. (2022). The benefits of live court date reminder phone calls during pretrial case processing. *Journal of Experimental Criminology, 18*(1), 149–169. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11292-020-09423-0; Zettler, H. R., & Morris, R. G. (2015). An exploratory assessment of race and gender-specific predictors of failure to appear in court among defendants released via a pretrial services agency. *Criminal Justice Review, 40*(4), 417–430. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734016815583350

52. Metzger et al., 2021

53. Ostrom, B. J., Hamblin, L. E., & Schauffler, R. Y. (2020). Delivering timely justice in criminal cases: A national picture. National Center for State Courts. https://www.ncsc.org/__data/ assets/pdf_file/0017/53216/Delivering-Timely-Justice-in-Criminal-Cases-A-National-Picture.pdf

54. Pilnick et al., 2017 (p. 42)

55. See ABA Standard 10-1.10(h): "Review the status of detained defendants on an ongoing basis for any changes in eligibility for release options and facilitate their release as soon as feasible and appropriate" (ABA, 2007); see also APPR's Stories from the Field *Reducing Pretrial Detention Equitably and Efficiently, Part I* and *Part II* (https://advancingpretrial.org/implementation/stories-from-the-field/).

56. Pilnick et al., 2017 (p. 29)

57. For more information, see APPR's *Jail Overview* resources (https://advancingpretrial.org/appr/appr-resources/jail-overview/).

58. For more information, see APPR's *Guide to Pretrial System Mapping* (https://cdn.filestackcontent.com/security=policy:eyJle HBpcnkiOjQwODAxNDYOMDAsImNhbGwiOlsicmVhZCIsImNvbn ZlcnQiXX0=,signature:bf9d04ed62530c164d6fed395e4f74c04e 606b95f4b72448ff976857a1e3a5f5/ndoPsiJT2ilyMQZDRQYQ).

59. For more information, see APPR's pretrial legal analyses (https://advancingpretrial.org/appr/appr-resources/pretrial-legalanalyses/).

60. For more information, see APPR's pretrial research summaries (https://advancingpretrial.org/appr/appr-resources/pretrial-research-summaries/).

61. Pilnick et al, 2017 (p. 50); National Institute of Corrections (NIC). (2021). Measuring what matters: Outcome and performance measures for the pretrial services field (NIC Accession No. 033331). https://s3.amazonaws.com/static.nicic. gov/Library/033331.pdf

62. For examples of performance measures, see Advancing Pretrial Policy & Research. (n.d.). *APPR pretrial performance measures*. https://advancingpretrial.org/improvement-guide/guide-to-pretrial-performance-measures/; NIC, 2021

63. Bach, A., & Travis, J. (2021). *Don't ignore the infrastructure of criminal justice*. THE HILL. https://thehill.com/blogs/congress-blog/politics/568063-dont-ignore-the-infrastructure-of-criminal-justice

